# RECEIVED

06-30-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

#### Case No. 2014AP000915-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JODY A. BOLSTAD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Crawford County Circuit Court, the Honorable James P. Czajkowski, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081378

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8384 breedlovet@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Were Mr. Bolstad's Fifth Amendment rights violated when he was frisked and interrogated at length by a law enforcement officer inside a law enforcement vehicle, without first being informed of his *Miranda<sup>1</sup>* rights?

The trial court answered "no."

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is unwarranted because the issues can be decided by applying established legal principles to the facts of this case. Mr. Bolstad anticipates that the issues will be fully presented in the briefs, but would welcome oral argument if the court would find it helpful to resolving this case.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jody A. Bolstad was charged with four counts of illegal deer hunting and moved to suppress oral and written statements he provided to a Wisconsin Conservation Warden on November 22, 2012. (2; 10). A co-defendant, David Myhre, filed a similar suppression motion and a joint suppression hearing was held on both motions. The facts from the complaint and the suppression hearing are as follows:

Wisconsin Conservation Warden Tyler Strelow was manning a deer decoy on November 22, 2012, when he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

observed a truck with two occupants. (2:2; 34:43-44). He observed the passenger lay over the top of the driver, aim a rifle out the window, and fire at the decoy. (2:2). Warden Strelow contacted Warden Dale Hochhausen who was parked nearby in his official Department of Natural Resources ("DNR") vehicle. (2:2). Warden Hochhausen stopped the truck and identified the passenger as the defendant, Jody A. Bolstad, and the driver as David Myhre. (2:2-3; 34:9-10). Warden Hochhausen proceeded to interrogate both individuals.

Warden Hochhausen told Mr. Bolstad that he wanted to speak to him "regarding some stuff from the past deer  $(34:24(2)^2)$ . season." At the time of the stop, Warden Hochhausen was in a full DNR uniform, which included a holstered firearm, handcuffs and a radio. (16:2; App. 104; 34:12-13, 24(2), 37-38). Warden Hochhausen asked Mr. Bolstad to exit the truck and once he was out, frisked him. (16:1; App. 103; 34:24-25(2)). The two stood outside the vehicle for a few minutes before Warden Strelow, who was also in full DNR uniform, arrived at the scene. (34:24-25). During this time, Warden Hochhausen secured a gun and ammunition found in the truck and alerted the sheriff's department that he had made a traffic stop. (34:25-26). Warden Hochhausen then asked Mr. Bolstad to sit in his squad truck to talk to him about incidents during the past deer season. (16:1; App. 103; 34:24(2)). Mr. Bolstad got into the passenger seat of the squad truck and Warden Hochhausen sat in the driver's seat. (34:24(2)).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The suppression hearing transcripts has a typographical error and includes two pages marked at page 24. In this brief, Mr. Bolstad refers to the first page 24 as "24(1)" and the second page 24 as "24(2)."

The DNR squad truck was unmarked but inside contained a police radio, a computer, a gun rack (with a shotgun in it), an emergency red and blue light and a box of documents. (16:2; App. 104; 34:34-35). The truck was in effect a mobile office and from the inside it was clear it was a law enforcement vehicle. (34:35-36).

Mr. Bolstad was not placed under any restraints and no weapons were drawn. (16:1; App. 103; 34:25). Warden Strelow stood outside the squad truck while Warden Hochhausen interrogated Mr. Bolstad inside. (16:1; App. 103; 34:45).

At the suppression hearing, Warden Hochhausen stated that after Mr. Bolstad got into the squad truck, he informed him that he was not under arrest, did not have to answer any questions and could stop the questioning at any point. He said and that Mr. Bolstad responded that he understood. (34:26). Mr. Bolstad testified that he was only told he was free to leave at the end of the interrogation, not at the beginning. (34:67). The court found that Warden Hochhausen informed Mr. Bolstad he could leave anytime at the beginning of the interrogation. (16:3; App. 105).

In response to Warden Hochhausen's questioning inside the squad truck, Mr. Bolstad admitted that earlier that same day he had gone deer hunting with a firearm but had not seen any deer. (2:3; 15:1). He also admitted to hunting deer with a firearm on November 17 and 18, 2012. (2:3). Mr. Bolstad also admitted to shooting turkeys on two occasions and failing to tag them. (15:2-3).

Warden Hochhausen confronted Mr. Bolstad with information the DNR had received about an incident in December 2001, in which a deer was shot out of season, at night, with the aid of a spotlight. (2:3; 34:24(2)). Mr. Bolstad

admitted that some time between Christmas Day, 2011, and New Years Day, 2012, he and David Myhre shined a deer with a spotlight and shot and killed it. (2:3; 15:2). Mr. Bolstad admitted he dragged the deer out of the field and took it back to his residence where he skinned it and cut it up. (2:3; 15:2). He confessed that he did not tag the deer. (2:3; 15:2).

At no time did Warden Hochhausen notify Mr. Bolstad of his *Miranda* rights. (34:31).

After interrogating Mr. Bolstad, Warden Hochhausen converted Mr. Bolstad's statements to a "voluntary statement form." (15; 34:27-28). The preprinted portion of the voluntary statement contained the language: "I certify that the statement is voluntary, that it was freely made without duress or promise of clemency, and that it is a true and correct account of what happened to the best of my knowledge and belief." (15:3; 16:1; App. 103). Both Warden Hochhausen and Mr. Bolstad read and signed the form after they initialed certain changes. (16:1; App. 103; 34:29, 72). According to Warden Hochhausen, the interrogation lasted one and one-half to one and three-quarter hours. (34:76). According to Mr. Bolstad, the interrogation lasted for two and one-half hours. (34:75-76). According to Warden Hochhausen, the encounter ended with him stating that he would contact Mr. Bolstad regarding what charges were filed and Mr. Bolstad exiting the vehicle. (34:29-30). Mr. Bolstad stated the encounter ended when he was finally told he was free to leave. (34:67).

After interrogating Mr. Bolstad, Wardens Hochhausen and Strelow interrogated Mr. Myhre who also made incriminating statements. (16:2; App. 104; 34:12).

At the suppression hearing, Warden Hochhausen admitted that he asked both men questions designed to elicit

incriminating answers and the state conceded that both men were interrogated. (34:37, 82). Warden Hochhausen testified that he carries a *Miranda* waiver of rights form with him that was made available to him by the DNR but testified that he did not use that form with either Mr. Bolstad or Mr. Myhre. (34:36-37, 40). Warden Hochhausen denied making any threats or promises to either man to obtain responses to questions. (34:33). However, both Mr. Bolstad and Mr. Myhre testified that they did not feel free to leave, felt they were in custody and were told they were free to leave by Warden Hochhausen only at the end of their interrogations, after they signed their voluntary statements. (16:2; App. 104; 34:52-53, 65-67, 69-70).

In addition, Mr. Bolstad testified that he asked Warden Hochhausen if he needed a lawyer and the warden told him he did not need one because he was not under arrest. (34:65-66). He also testified that he was never told that he did not have to talk to Warden Hochhausen and that Warden Hochhausen told him if he did not cooperate he would be arrested. (34:66, 68). Warden Hochhausen confirmed this, saying he told Mr. Bolstad that if he lied it would be considered obstruction, a more serious charge. (34:78). Finally, Mr. Bolstad testified that he was not asked to sign the voluntary form but rather was told he had to sign it and that he did not understand the consequences of signing the form. (34:65, 73).

The court denied Mr. Bolstad's suppression motion in a written decision in which it stated that the statements would not be suppressed because, while Warden Hochhausen's questioning was intended to obtain incriminating statements, the defendants were not, based on the totality of circumstances, in custody at the time they gave their statements. (16:4; App. 106). The court found that a reasonable person in Mr. Bolstad's situation would have concluded he was free to terminate his interview at any time and leave the truck and therefore Warden Hochhausen was not required to advise Mr. Bolstad of his *Miranda* rights. (16:4; App. 106).

The court acknowledged the long period of time Mr. Bolstad was interrogated but stated there was no evidence to suggest he was not free to leave at any time he wished. (16:4; App. 106). The court also acknowledged that both men testified that Warden Hochhausen told them they were free to leave only at the end of their interrogations and that both men had argued this meant they were detained earlier and only free to leave at the end of the interrogations. (16:4; App. 106). However, the court held that Warden Hochhausen's testimony did not establish that Mr. Bolstad and Mr. Myhre were prevented from walking away earlier. (16:4; App. 106).

After having his suppression motion denied, Mr. Bolstad pled no contest to three counts of failing to attach an ear tag to a deer carcass, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 29.347(2), and one count of possessing a deer during a closed season, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 29.055. (24; App. 101). The court withheld sentence and imposed 3 years of probation for each count. (24; App. 101; 36:38). The court also ordered \$8,100 in fines, in addition to court costs, ordered Mr. Bolstad to turn over his firearms, and revoked his Chapter 29 privileges for three years. (24; App. 101).

Mr. Bolstad now appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

Mr. Bolstad's Fifth Amendment Rights Were Violated When He Was Frisked and Interrogated at Length by a Law Enforcement Officer Inside a Law Enforcement Vehicle, Without First Being Informed of His *Miranda* Rights.

A. Standard of review.

The state bears the burden of showing compliance with *Miranda*, including the burden to show whether a custodial interrogation occurred. *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 347-51, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

Whether a defendant's *Miranda* rights were violated presents a question of constitutional fact. This court upholds the trial court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous, but independently applies the constitutional standard to the facts. *See State v. Karow*, 154 Wis. 2d 375, 384-85, 453 N.W.2d 181 (Ct. App. 1990). Whether the law enforcement officer acted in accord with the Constitution is a question of law subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Cunningham*, 144 Wis. 2d 272, 282, 423 N.W.2d 862 (1988).

B. Mr. Bolstad was in custody.

Mr. Bolstad was in custody when he was frisked and questioned by a DNR warden inside a DNR squad truck.

According to the Supreme Court's holding in *Miranda*, warnings must be given prior to custodial interrogation. Custodial interrogation is questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in a

significant way. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. Thus, the threshold inquiry in this case is whether Mr. Bolstad was in custody.

Miranda protections are required "as soon as a suspect's freedom is curtailed 'to the degree associated with formal arrest."" State v. Pounds, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 321, 500 N.W.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1993) (quoting Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 440 (1984)). To determine if a person is in custody, courts look to "whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have considered himself or herself to be in custody, given the degree of restraint under the circumstances."Id. (internal quotation omitted). Consideration must be given to the totality of the circumstances, including such factors as: "the suspect's freedom to leave; the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation, and the degree of restraint." State v. Torkelson, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 17, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511 (citing State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 12, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23). Various factors are considered in determining the degree of restraint; they include: "whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk was performed, the manner in which the suspect was restrained, whether the suspect was moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." Id.

The circumstances in this case include the following. Mr. Bolstad was asked to get out of the vehicle he was riding in by a DNR warden in full uniform, which included a holstered firearm, handcuffs and a radio. (16:1-2; App. 103-04; 34:24(2)). After exiting the vehicle, he was frisked. (16:1; App. 103; 34:12, 24(2)). He was then asked to get into the DNR squad truck which contained a police radio, a computer, a gun rack (with a gun in it), an emergency red and blue light and a box of documents, and was interrogated by Warden Hochhausen for one and one-half to two and one-half hours, without a break. (16:1-2; App. 103-04 34:24(2), 34-35, 75-76). A second uniformed DNR officer stood outside the squad truck during the interrogation. (16:1; App. 103; 34:11, 48). According to Mr. Bolstad's testimony, he felt that he was in custody and did not feel he could leave the squad truck. (34:67). He also testified that he asked if he needed an attorney and Warden Hochhausen told him he did not because he was not under arrest. (34:65-66). At no point was he notified of his *Miranda* rights.

The length of the interrogation is one of the main factors used to determine whether an individual was in custody. Torkelson, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 17. As the Seventh Circuit acknowledged in U.S. v. Scheets, 188 F.3d 829, 841 (7th Cir. 1999), "even if a suspect is not formally arrested an encounter with police may ripen into de facto arrest if the encounter continues too long or becomes too intrusive." This case differs significantly from one like Torkelson where the court found the defendant was not in custody because the questioning in *Torkelson* was temporary and brief, only allowing for a few questions to be asked. Torkelson, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 19. Here, Mr. Bolstad's interrogation was lengthy - lasting between one and one-half hours and two and one-half hours. The length of the interrogation weighs in favor of a finding that Mr. Bolstad was in custody.

The fact that Mr. Bolstad was frisked also weighs in favor of a finding that he was in custody. *See Priddy v. State*, 55 Wis. 2d 312, 314, 198 N.W.2d 624 (1972) (defendant found to be in custody when he was told to get out of car with hands up and was frisked).

Other factors used to determine custody are whether the individual was moved to another location and whether the interrogation was carried out inside a law enforcement vehicle. Torkelson, 306 Wis. 2d 673, ¶ 17. Here, Mr. Bolstad was asked to exit his vehicle and get into the DNR squad truck. He could have been interviewed in his vehicle or outside, away from the coercive environment of the squad truck, but instead the interrogation was carried out inside the law enforcement vehicle. In some regards Mr. Bolstad's interrogation inside the law enforcement vehicle was akin to interrogation inside a police station as this DNR squad truck operated as а mobile office. according to Warden Hochhausen.<sup>3</sup> And, while not dispositive, an interview conducted inside a law enforcement facility weighs in favor of a finding that an encounter was custodial. State v. Lonkoski, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 28, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552.

Additionally, while only one warden questioned Mr. Bolstad, the effect of having a second warden outside the squad truck for the course of the interview should also weigh in favor of a finding of custody. A reasonable person would not feel able to stop answering questions, exit the DNR squad truck, walk passed the second uniformed officer (who had a gun), get back into the car he arrived in and leave the scene.

Several courts have also noted, where a person is being questioned by law enforcement officers, the knowledge that these officers suspect him of a crime is a significant factor suggesting custody. *See, e.g., Jackson v. State*, 528 S.E.2d 232, 235 (Ga. 2000) ("A reasonable person in

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Warden Hochhausen testified the truck was in effect a mobile office and it was obvious from the inside that it was a law enforcement vehicle. (34:35-36).

Jackson's position, having just confessed to involvement in a crime in the presence of law enforcement officers would, from that time forward, perceive himself to be in custody, and expect that his future freedom of action would be significantly curtailed."); *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So. 2d 636, 644 (Fla. 2000) (custody where, inter alia, defendant "was confronted with evidence strongly suggesting his guilt, and he was asked questions that made it readily apparent that the detectives considered him the prime, if not the only, suspect."). In this case, Warden Hochhausen confronted Mr. Bolstad with evidence of an unresolved hunting incident which prompted Mr. Bolstad to confess. (2:3). As such, Mr. Bolstad was alerted that he was a suspect in that case and thus had reason to believe he was in custody.

Finally, Mr. Bolstad's separation from Mr. Myhre also indicates that he was in custody. The Supreme Court observed in *Miranda* that the presence of friends can lend moral support to an individual when faced with the pressures of interrogation. 384 U.S. at 449-51. The court noted that separation from family or friends is often a deliberate ploy used by officers to obtain a confession. *Id*. Here, Warden Hochhausen could have allowed Mr. Bolstad to remain in the car with Mr. Myhre but instead decided to separate the two men to conduct his investigation, presumably with the intent to obtain a confession.

The question of whether Mr. Bolstad was in custody boils down to whether a reasonable person in Mr. Bolstad's position – that is, one who: (1) is asked to get out of his vehicle by a law enforcement officer in full uniform, (2) is frisked, (3) is asked to get into a law enforcement vehicle to discuss incidents that occurred last season, and (4) is subject to interrogation for one and one-half to two and one-half hours inside the law enforcement vehicle while a second law enforcement officer stands outside the vehicle - would reasonably believe that he was free to terminate the encounter and leave the situation. A reasonable person in Mr. Bolstad's position would not have felt free to leave.

#### C. Mr. Bolstad was interrogated.

Direct questioning likely to elicit an incriminating response constitutes interrogation triggering a suspect's Fifth Amendment right to counsel and necessitating the administration of *Miranda* warnings. *State v. Schloegel*, 319 Wis. 2d 741, 747, 769 N.W.2d 130 (Ct. App. 2009). One action that is likely to elicit an incriminating response is confronting a suspect with evidence against him. Here, Mr. Bolstad was prompted to confess to a variety of crimes after Warden Hochhausen asked him about many hunting incidents and confronted him with evidence of an unresolved deer hunting incident. In fact, at the suppression hearing, Warden Hochhausen admitted that he asked Mr. Bolstad questions designed to elicit incriminating responses in the squad truck. (34:37). Moreover, the state conceded that Mr. Bolstad was interrogated and the circuit court agreed with this determination in its written decision. (16:4; App. 106; 34:82).

D. Warden Hochhausen was a law enforcement officer who had a duty to notify Mr. Bolstad of his *Miranda* rights.

Police officers and other law enforcement officers have a duty to read individuals their *Miranda* rights when those individuals are subject to custodial interrogation. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. At no point during the course of this case has the state argued that Warden Hochhausen was not a law enforcement officer with such a duty. Wisconsin Statute § 967.02(5) defines the term "Law enforcement officer" as "any person who by virtue of the person's office or public employment is vested by law with the duty to maintain public order or to make arrests for crimes while acting within the scope of the person's authority." According to Wis. Stat. § 29.921(1), wardens may execute and serve warrants and arrest individuals when they have probable cause to believe certain laws have been violated. As such, wardens meet the definition of "law enforcement officers" and thus have a duty to notify individuals of their *Miranda* rights just as any police officer would.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should vacate the judgment of conviction and order that all of Mr. Bolstad's oral and written statements be suppressed.