RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

JUL **3 1 2014** GLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL No. 2014A000915CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

vs.

JODY A. BOLSTAD

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE DECEMBER 3, 2013 FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CRAWFORD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT IN CASE 2013CM06 THE HONORABLE JAMES P. CZAJKOWSKI PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENTS BRIEF

Timothy C. Baxter District Attorney Crawford County, WI 220 N. Beaumont Road Prairie du Chien, WI 53821 Phone # 608-326-4802 State Bar No. 1001694

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 22, 2012, Wisconsin Conservation Wardens Dale Hochhausen (Hochhausen) and Tyler Strelow (Strelow) were working over a deer decoy in rural Crawford County when a maroon colored pick-up truck stopped in the road and the passenger in the vehicle took a shot at the decoy. (Tr. 9: 24 - 25, Tr. 10: 1 - 4). Warden Hochhausen made a traffic stop on this vehicle and identified the above-named Defendant-Appellant Jody Bolstad (Bolstad). (Tr. 23: 17 - 23).

Warden Hochhausen proceeded to obtain a written statement from Bolstad wherein Bolstad admitted to certain facts that led to the subject criminal charges being filed against him. Bolstad was seated in Warden Hochhausen's patrol truck when he provided this statement. After speaking with Bolstad, Bolstad exited the patrol truck, returned to the maroon truck he was originally stopped in, and left the area.

Based on previous knowledge and the statements by Bolstad, Wardens Hochhausen and Strelow proceeded to the residence of David Myhre. (Tr. 11: 1 - 10). Once at the Myhre residence, Warden Hochhausen proceeded to take a written statement from Myhre, wherein Myhre admitted to certain facts that led to the criminal charges being filed against him. Myhre was seated in Warden Hochhausen's patrol truck when he provided this statement. After speaking with Myhre, Myhre exited the patrol truck and Wardens Hochhausen and Strelow departed the area.

Defendant-Appellants Bolstad and Myhre brought a Motion to Suppress their statements based on Miranda violations. On July 11, 2013, the Suppression hearing was held. In a written decision by the trial court, Bolstad's and Myhre's motions were denied.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND

PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary in this case and publication is unavailable.

THE SUPPRESSION HEARING

Warden Dale Hochhausen testified. Warden Hochhausen testified that while at the scene of the traffic stop, after the decoy was shot and after Bolstad was identified, he wanted to speak with Bolstad concerning some potential violation from the previous deer season. (Tr. 24: 2-5).

Warden Hochhausen testified that since there was a weapon involved in the shooting of the decoy, he first secured the weapon and the scene of the traffic stop for safety. (Tr. 24: 25, Tr. 25: 1 – 4). Again, since there was a weapon involved and shots were fired, after Bolstad exited the vehicle, Warden Hochhausen performed a pat-down of Bolstad's person. (Tr. 24: 21 – 22).

Warden Hochhausen stated that he secured the scene and waited approximately five (5) minutes for Warden Strelow to arrive at the scene, on foot, as back-up. (Tr. 25: 9 - 21).

Warden Hochhausen had previously testified that at this time, he was in full uniform, wearing a duty belt which included a firearm, handcuffs, and a radio (Tr. 11: 19 – 25, Tr. 12: 1 – 8), and was driving an unmarked patrol truck equipped with interior lights (Tr. 11: 11 – 16) as well as an armed shotgun rack, police radio, and computer (Tr. 35: 6 – 25, Tr. 36: 1 – 7). Warden Hochhausen testified that he "asked [Bolstad] if he would sit in my squad truck and speak to me regarding some stuff regarding the past deer season . . .". (Tr. 24: 12 - 14; Tr. 26: 16 - 18). Warden Hochhausen stated that Bolstad "walked over to my pickup truck and sat in the passenger seat while I sat in the driver's seat". (Tr. 24: 14 - 15; Tr. 26: 19 - 21). (See also Bolstad's testimony at Tr. 71: 8 - 24.)

Warden Hochhausen testified that at no time was Bolstad handcuffed or restrained in any way. (Tr. 25: 5 – 13). (See also Warden Strelow's testimony at Tr. 45: 2 – 8). (See also Bolstad's testimony at Tr. 71: 20 – 21).

Warden Hochhausen testified that he told Bolstad that he was not under arrest (Tr. 26: 20 - 21), that he did not have to answer any questions (Tr. 26: 21) and that he could stop answering questions at any point (Tr. 26: 22).

This testimony by Warden Hochhausen was reiterated on cross-examination. (Tr. 36: 20 - 25, Tr. 37: 1 - 4).

Warden Hochhausen stated that Bolstad seemed to understand these statements (Tr. 26: 23 - 25, Tr. 1 - 5) and Bolstad agreed to speak with and answer questions of Warden Hochhausen. (Tr. 27: 6 - 8).

Warden Hochhausen proceeded to take a written statement from Bolstad. Warden Hochhausen detailed how the statement was taken and how Defendant Appellant Bolstad came to make corrections and sign the statement. (Tr. 28 – 29). Bolstad conceded that the statement was voluntarily given to Warden Hochhausen (Tr. 73: 9 – 15).

Warden Hochhausen stated that after the statement was taken, Bolstad exited the patrol truck and was allowed to leave the scene of the traffic stop in the vehicle he arrived in. (See Warden Strelow's testimony at Tr. 45: 21 - 25). (See also Bolstad's testimony at Tr. 73: 16 - 23).

Warden Hochhausen testified that Bolstad was not given his <u>Miranda</u> warnings at any time during this procedure. (Tr. 31: 5-10). Further, Warden Hochhausen testified that at no time during this interview process did Bolstad request counsel or request that questioning cease. Warden Hochhausen testified that no threats, promises, or coercion was used to obtain these statements from Bolstad. (Tr. 32: 25, Tr. 33: 1 – 16).

As expected, Bolstad had different views of the same event.

Bolstad conceded that Warden Hochhausen did tell him he was "free to leave" (Tr. 65: 15 – 18), but that he also asked if he needed a lawyer, but was advised that he did not, (Tr. 65: 18 - 25), because he was not under arrest (Tr. 66: 1 – 3). Bolstad testified that he was not told he was free to leave until after the interview (Tr. 67: 3 – 17) and that he did not feel that he was free to leave prior to that point (Tr. 67: 18 – 19), despite the admission that the Warden did not say anything to him that would have made him believe he was not free to leave (Tr. 70: 6 – 11).

Bolstad further claimed that he felt threatened with criminal charges and jail if he did not sign his statement (Tr. 68: 5 – 13) and that Warden Hochhausen apparently specifically told him that if he didn't cooperate, he'd be arrested (Tr. 68: 23 – 25).

Bolstad testified that this interview process took approximately 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours (Tr. 75: 7 – 16), although Warden Hochhausen testified on re-direct it was "an hour and a half, forty-five minutes" (Tr. 76: 7 – 12). Warden Hochhausen reiterated, again, that he told Bolstad he was "free to leave" both before and after the interview, that he was told he was not under arrest, and that he did not have to answer any questions. (Tr. 77: 5 - 23).

TRIAL COURT DECISION

On August 9, 2013, the trial court issued a written decision denying Bolstad's motion to suppress.

The trial court made specific findings of fact concerning Bolstad.

The trial court found that the Bolstad interview took place immediately after the traffic stop, and that Warden Hochhausen asked Bolstad to sit in his truck. The trial court found that once inside the truck, Bolstad was informed that he was not under arrest and that he could stop [answering questions] at any time.

The trial court found that prior to the statement given, Warden Hochhausen told Bolstad he "could leave at any time" and that he was "not under arrest". The trial court found that Bolstad was not transported to the jail for an interview, no weapons were used, and no handcuffs or other restraints were employed. The trial court found that the length of the interview was between 1 $\frac{1}{2}$ and 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours.

The trial court found that Bolstad's statement was signed and given voluntarily.

The trial court also found that Bolstad was not given his Miranda warnings.

Given the findings of fact, stated above, the trial court concluded that Bolstad was not in custody at the time he gave his statement, thus <u>Miranda</u> was not required. The trial court found the statement voluntarily given and the motion to suppress was denied.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Standard of Review

"In reviewing a trial court's determination on a motion suppress evidence, we accept the trial court's finding of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous". <u>State v.</u> <u>Mosher</u>, 221 Wis. 2d 203, 211 (Ct. App. 1998), citing <u>State v.</u> <u>Turner</u>, 136 Wis. 2d 333 (1987). See also <u>State v. Post</u>, 301 Wis.2d 1, 6 – 7 (2007). "Findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Wis. Stats. § 805.17(2). See also, <u>State v. Van Camp</u>, 213 Wis.2d 131, 140 (1997), <u>State v. Owens</u>, 148 Wis. 2d 922 (1987).

"When reviewing the voluntariness of a statement, this court must accept the trial court's findings of historical fact and its assessment of the witness's credibility, unless they are clearly erroneous". <u>Id</u>.

However, even though the "clearly erroneous" standard is used to determine historical fact, a question of constitutional fact is a two-step approach, with the application of those facts to constitutional principles is reviewed independently. <u>State</u> <u>v. Post</u>, 301 Wis.2d 1, 7 (2007), citing also <u>State v. Martwick</u>, 231 Wis.2d 801(2000) and <u>State v. Payano-Roman</u>, 290 WIs.2d 380 (2006).

<u>Custody</u>

It is clear from the findings of fact by the trial court that in weighing the credibility of the witnesses that the court 'believed' the Wardens when it came to any testimony that

was contradictory, i.e. when Bolstad was told he was free to leave or whether he was threatened or coerced to give this statement in any way.

Based on this historical fact, the trial court concluded that Bolstad was not in custody. Given these historical fact findings, this Court must now independently review as to whether these facts show that Bolstad was not in custody for <u>Miranda</u> purposes.

"The test is 'whether a reasonable person in [Bolstad's] position would have considered himself or herself to be in custody given the degree of restraint under the circumstances". <u>Mosher</u> at 211, citing <u>State v. Gruen</u>, 218 Wis.2d 581 (Ct. App. 1998) and <u>State v. Swanson</u>, 164 Wis.2d 437, 446-47(1991).

"A suspect is in custody when the suspect's freedom to act is restricted to a "degree associated with formal arrest"". <u>State</u> <u>v. Torkelson</u>, 306 Wis.2d 673, 680 (Ct. App. 2007), citing <u>Berkemer v. McCarty</u>, 468 U.S. 420, 440 (1984).

Following <u>Berkemer</u>, courts have developed a 'list of factors' to use when considering whether a person's "freedom to act is

restricted to a degree associated with formal arrest."

Torkelson at 681 (other citations omitted).

These factors include the suspects freedom to have, the purpose, place, and length of interrogation, and the degree of restraint. The degree of restraint includes "whether the suspect was handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk was performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved.

<u>Id.</u>

<u>Torkelson</u> went on to say that these factors are not dispositive – they are merely "reference points that help to determine whether <u>Miranda</u> safeguards are necessary. In other words, we use these factors relevant in a given case to determine whether the circumstances present a risk that police may "coerce or trick captive suspects into confessing," or show that a suspect is subject to "compelling pressures generated by the custodial setting itself." <u>Torkelson</u> at 681, citing Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 433.

From the evidence taken at the suppression hearing and from the trial court's finding of historical fact, Plaintiff-Respondent does not feel that it can be said that, under the totality of the circumstances, Bolstad felt as though he was restrained to the point of a formal arrest.

Bolstad was asked to come to the patrol truck. Bolstad was asked to sit inside the patrol truck. Bolstad was told he was free to leave, was not under arrest, and could stop answering questions at any time. Bolstad provided a statement to Warden Hochhausen, reviewed it, made corrections, and signed it after being read the language on the form concerning the voluntariness of giving the statement.

The interview lasted between $1\frac{1}{2}$ and $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours, but Warden Hochhausen indicated there was a 'lot of stuff to cover'.

Bolstad was never restrained, never handcuffed, never threatened, and although he was frisked, he was done so because there had been an illegal shooting of the deer decoy just minutes before the traffic stop.

Weapons were not drawn and Warden Strelow stayed outside the truck during the interview which was taken right at the scene of the traffic stop. Bolstad exited the patrol truck and was allowed to leave in the vehicle he came in, with the person he came with.

William Britter

There was no coercion, trickery, or undue pressure placed on Bolstad by Warden Hochhausen.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above, the Plaintiff-Respondent respectfully urges this Court to find that Defendant-Appellant Bolstad was not in custody so as to trigger the <u>Miranda</u> protections and find that Defendant-Appellant Bolstad's statement was voluntarily given to Warden Hochhausen.

Date this 31st day of July, 201A

Timothy C. Baxter District Attorney Crawford County 220 N. Beaumont Road Prairie du Chien, WI 53821 State Bar No 1001694